I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER, CITATION TO COURT 
OF APPEALS DECISION AND INTRODUCTION 

Janet G. Husted, Wilbert R. Pina, and Joel Flores, Petitioners, 

State of Washington, Washington State Court of Appeals No. 71662-0-1 

(March 16, 2015). 

This Court ruled in Taggart v. State, 118 Wn.2d 195, 223, 822 

P.3d 243 (1992), that "a parole officer takes charge of the parolees he or 

she supervises despite the lack of a custodial or continuous relationship" 

(emphasis added). Yet the Court of Appeals' decision holds that an 

offender terminates supervision simply by missing an appointment. This 

decision contradicts and undermines Taggart and its numerous progeny,

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

This Court has long held that the government's duty to supervise 

offenders in the community flows from the "take charge" relationship 

existing by virtue of the statutes that empower and authorize 

supervision, the judgment and sentence, and the supervising agency's 

rules and regulations. When DOC issues a warrant because an offender 

misses an appointment, does the "take charge" relationship and duty to 

supervise end? 

Ill. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On June 2, 2009 Calvin Finley shot and killed Kurt Husted and 

wounded Wilbert Pina during a robbery. CP 519-521,528-538,539-551. 
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At the time of this murder Finley was subject to a sentence of 

Community Custody supervision resulting from his September 1, 2006 

conviction for Domestic Violence Court Order Violation. CP 484-492. 1 

On Saturday, February 14, 2009, Finley gained release from 

confinement imposed for a violation of his supervision. DOC ordered 

Finley to report within one (1) business day of his release from jail. 

CP 110, 177-179. When Finley failed to report on the next day of 

business, February 17, 2009, DOC requested a Secretary's Warrant for 

his arrest. 

The State moved for summary judgment dismissal on 

March 13, 2013. CP 79-102. The Plaintiffs resisted the motion. 

CP 213-1406. The Trial Court dismissed this case, ruling that once DOC 

issued its warrant it had no further duty to supervise Finley. Report of 

Proceedings (RP) 22; CP1477-1479. 

The Court of Appeals affirmed in its opmwn filed on 

March 16, 20152
. See Appendix 1 ("Opinion"). The Court ruled that 

(Opinion, p.13): 

[T]he State had no duty to control Finley's behavior at the 
time he committed the acts giving rise to the claims in this 

Prior to June 2, 2009 the Washington State Department of Corrections had 
identified Finley as an imminent threat and risk to the community. 
CP 344-348,925-926. 

2 The Court filed an amended opinion on May II, 2015. Appendix I. 

3 



case, because Finley had absconded supervision, had only 
minimal contact with DOC and was on warrant status at 
that time. 

The Court found no duty because Finley missed his appointment 

with his CCO. The Court found that missing the appointment rendered 

Finley's relationship with the State no longer "continuous" 

(Opinion. P.10): 

But Taggart also tells us that a take charge relationship 
entails ongoing contact between the parole officer and the 
parolee because the relationship must be a "direct, 
established and continuing" one. !d. at 219. It is the 
continuing nature of the relationship that allows the parole 
officer to exercise control. A parolee who has absconded 
and for whom a warrant has been issued no longer has a 
continuing relationship with the parole officer. When this 
occurs the offender is not subject to the parole officer's 
control because he or she cannot be monitored, given 
direction or sanctioned. 

The Cities of Kirkland and Pasco moved to publish the decision. 

The State also moved to publish, and also moved the Court to amend the 

opinion to change language in the opinion. The Court of Appeals granted 

the motions. It issued an Order Granting Motion to Amend and Motion to 

Publish and Withdrawing and Replacing Opinion, on May 11, 2015. 

See Appendix 1 

IV. ARGUMENT 

RAP 13.4(b) reads, in pertinent part, as follows: 
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(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A 
petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court 
only: 

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict 
with a decision of the Supreme Court; or 
(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with 
another decision of the Court of Appeals. 

The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with decisions of 

this Court and other decisions of the Court of Appeals. This court should 

grant review and reverse. 

A. THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS CONFLICTS 
WITH TAGGART V. STATE, 118 WN.2D 195, 219-222, 822 

P.2D 243 (1992), AND ITS PROGENY. 

This Court ruled in 1992 that the relationship between a parole 

officer and the parolees he or she supervises creates a duty to exercise 

reasonable care to control the parolee to protect anyone who might 

reasonably be endangered by the parolee's dangerous propensities. 

Taggart v. State, 118 Wn.2d 195, 219-222, 822 P.2d 243 (1992). 

The relationship between a parole officer and a parolee constitutes 

a "special relationship" under the Restatement of Torts (Second) § 315 

(1965). The relationship gives rise to a duty to protect the public from 

harm that the parolee might cause. Taggart, 118 Wn.2d at 219. The Court 

explained, at 220, as follows: 

When a parolee's criminal history and progress during 
parole show that the parolee is likely to cause bodily harm 
to others if not controlled, the parole officer is under a duty 
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to exercise reasonable care to control the parolee and 
prevent him or her from doing such harm. 

The Court cited to the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 319 (1965) 

for the proposition that "[O]ne who takes charge of a third person whom 

he knows or should know to be likely to cause bodily harm to others if not 

controlled is under a duty to exercise reasonable care to control the third 

person to prevent him from doing such harm." Taggart, 118 Wn.2d at 219. 

Various aspects of the relationship between DOC and an offender 

under supervision give rise to the "take charge" relationship that gives rise 

to a duty to supervise offenders to protect the public from their dangerous 

propensities. The statute that authorizes and empowers superviSIOn 

establishes the "take charge" relationship. Taggart v. State 118 Wn.2d 

195, 219-220, 822 P.2d 243 (1992); Joyce v. State, 155 Wn.2d 306, 317, 

119 P.3d 825 (2005); Couch v. State, 113 Wn. App 556, 565, 54 P.3d 197 

(2002). The terms of the judgment and sentence can create the 

relationship. Bishop v. Miche, 137 Wn.2d 518,528,973 P. 2d 465 (1999); 

Joyce 155 Wn.2d at 318; Bardon v. State, 122 Wn. App 227,236,95 P.3d 

764 (2004). The supervising agency's rules and regulations governing 

supervision can create the take charge relationship as well. Bishop, 13 7 

Wn.2d at 528. 
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The supervising agency need not actually know of the Court order 

sentencing the offender to supervision for the take charge relationship to 

arise. Bardon, 122 Wn. App at 232, 236-238. In addition, the take charge 

relationship can exist in the absence of the power to arrest or full custodial 

control of the offender. Hertog v. City of Seattle, 138 Wn.2d 265, 290, 

979 p .2d 400 ( 1999). 

DOC had a "take charge" relationship with Calvin Finley resulting 

from the judgment and sentence in the underlying crime, pursuant to 

RCW 9.94A.700 and pursuant to DOC's own policies. CP 376-373, 

500-510, 374-378,248-249. 

The Court of Appeals recognized that "it is undisputed that DOC 

'took charge' of Finley within the meaning of§ 319 when he reported for 

supervision in 2007, as required by his 2006 judgment and sentence. 

RCW 9.94A.700 et seq. empowered DOC to control Finley and gave rise 

to the definite, established, and continuing relationship necessary to create 

a duty to control under § 319." Opinion, p. 7. 

Nonetheless, the Trial Court and the Court of Appeals held that 

Finley had the power to terminate DOC's responsibility to supervise him 

by skipping an appointment on February 17. 

The Court of Appeals held that the duty to supervise Finley 

vanished because when he missed the appointment and DOC 
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issued a warrant, "the requisite continuing relationship is terminated and 

the ability to monitor and control the parolee's behavior no longer exists." 

Opinion, p.7. 

This holding flies in the face of Taggart's formulation of the 

"continuing relationship" (Taggart, 118 Wn.2d at 219): 

We hold that the relationship between a parole officer and 
the parolees he or she supervises creates a similar duty for 
the officers. As a preliminary matter, we note that a duty 
will be imposed under § 315 only upon a showing of a 
"definite, established and continuing relationship between 
the defendant and the third party." Honcoop v. State, 111 
Wash. 2d 182, 193, 759 P.2d 1188 (1988). UnderRCW 
72.04A.080, parolees "shall be subject to the supervision of 
the department of corrections, and the probation and parole 
officers of the department shall be charged with the 
preparation of progress reports of parolees and to give 
guidance and supervision to such parolees within the 
conditions of a parolee's release from custody." 
RCW 72.04A.080. This statute is sufficient to establish that 
parole officers have a "definite, established and continuing 
relationship" with their parolees. 

The Taggart Court rejected the State's argument that a duty to 

supervise required a full custodial relationship. It rejected the reasoning 

of out-of-state cases requiring such control at 118 Wn.2d 222-223 

(emphasis added): 

Some courts have adopted such a view, holding that parole 
officers do not have sufficient control over parolees 
as to justify imposing on the officers a duty to control the 
parolees. Fox v. Custis, 236 Va. 69, 372 S.E.2d 373 
(1988); Small v. McKennan Hasp., 403 N.W.2d 410 
(S.D.1987); Lamb v. Hopkins, 303 Md. 236, 492 A.2d 1297 
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(1985). In Fox, for example, the victims of a parolee's 
crimes sued the state parole officers responsible for the 
parolee's supervision. The case was analyzed under§ 319, 
and the court held that the parole officers did not "take 
charge" of the parolee because the statute empowering the 
officers to supervise parolees "does not contemplate 
continuing hourly or daily dominance and dominion by a 
parole officer over the activities of a parolee." Similarly, 
in Lamb the Maryland court expressly adopted§ 319, but 
held that probation officers do not "take charge" of 
probationers such as to give rise to a duty to exercise due 
care in controlling the probationers because of the lack of a 
custodial relationship and the relative freedom the 
probationers have in conducting their day-to-day 
affairs. Lamb, 303 Md. at 248-49, 492 A.2d 1297. The 
Maryland court distinguished Petersen on the basis 
that Petersen concerned the negligent release of patients 
from psychiatric institutions. Lamb, at 250, 492 A.2d 1297. 
Likewise, the South Dakota Supreme Court 
in Small declared that "because there was no custodial 
relationship involved in this case, we conclude that the 
officers did not take charge of the probationer," and so held 
that § 319 did not give rise to any duty on the part of 
probation officers to control the dangerous propensities of 
probationers. 403 N.W.2d at 414 (quoting Lamb, 303 Md. 
at 248, 492 A.2d 1297). 

We reject this approach and hold that a parole officer takes 
charge of the parolees he or she supervises despite the lack 
of a custodial or continuous relationship. 

The Court of Appeals incoiTectly ruled that the ·'detinite, 

established and continuing relationship" required to impose a duty to 

supervise only arose if the offender maintained some contact with his 

CCO. It inaccurately cited Taggart's formulation of the take charge 
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relationship as dependent upon such ongoing contact, citing to Taggart at 

p. 219 (Opinion, p. 9): 

The flaw in the argument made by Husted and Pina is that 
it conflates two distinct concepts discussed in Taggart: 
"[Custody or [a] continuous relationship," which is not 
required to establish a take charge relationship, and a 
"definite, established and continuing relationship", which 
1s. Taggart. 118 Wn.2d at 219-23. 

*** 
But Taggart also tells us that a take charge relationship 
entails ongoing contact between the parole officer and the 
parolee because the relationship must be a "direct, 
established and continuing" one. !d. at 219. It is the 
continuing nature of the relationship that allows the parole 
officer to exercise control. 

This Court in Taggart made no such ruling in the passage cited. In 

reality, the Court ruled that the statute empowering supervision created 

the "definite, established and continuing relationship" which gave rise to 

the duty to supervise (Taggart, 118 Wn.2d at 219, emphasis added): 

We hold that the relationship between a parole officer and 
the parolees he or she supervises creates a similar duty for 
the officers. As a preliminary matter, we note that a duty 
will be imposed under §315 only upon a showing of a 
"definite, established and continuing relationship between 
the defendant and the third party." Honcoop v. State, 
111 Wash. 2d 182, 193, 759 P.2d 1188 (1988). 
Under RCW 72.04A.080, parolees "shall be subject to the 
supervision of the department of corrections, and the 
probation and parole officers of the department shall be 
charged with the preparation of progress reports of parolees 
and to give guidance and supervision to such parolees 
within the conditions of a parolee's release from 
custody." RCW 72.04A.080. This statute is sufficient to 
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establish that parole officers have a "definite, 
established and continuing relationship" with their 
parolees. 

Likewise, as the Court of Appeals acknowledged, at a minimum 

RCW 9.94A.700 sufficed to create the take charge relationship that gave 

rise to DOC's duty to supervise Finley. Opinion, p.9. Nonetheless, the 

Court undermined Taggart by declaring that the continuous relationship, 

and the resulting duty to supervise, will switch off and on with the 

offender's inclination to cooperate. The Court offered no explanation of 

how this statutorily generated relationship evaporated when Finley missed 

his appointment. This aspect of the Court's decision directly conflicts with 

Taggart's holding that the duty to supervise does not require "continuous 

supervision ... " 3 

One simply cannot reconcile the Court of Appeals' parsmg of 

Taggart with this Court's years of jurisprudence affirming the 

government's duty to supervise offenders based upon the "take charge" 

relationship. See, e.g., Bishop v. Miche, 137 Wn.2d 518, 973 P.2d 465 

(1999); Hertog v. City of Seattle, 138 Wn.2d 265, 979 P.2d 400 (1999); 

3 This Court in Taggart, at 223, specifically rejected out-of-state authority the State 
submitted to support its continuous relationship argument: "In addition, we recognize that 
the Washington statute empowering parole officers to supervise parolees contemplates 
neither a custodial relationship, such as the Maryland court required in Lamh, nor 
continuous superviSIOn, such as the Virginia court demanded 
in Fox. In Taras!~[{ and Lipari. however, which we followed in Petersen. the defendant 
therapists had neither custodial nor continuous relationships with their patients." 
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and Joyce v. State 155 Wn.2d 306, 119 P.3d 825 (2005). Notwithstanding 

this line of authority, the Court of Appeals dissected the "continuing 

relationship" into discrete parts never approved or contemplated by any 

decision of this Court. The "continuing" relationship results from the 

factors that give rise to the duty to supervise (statute, judgment and 

sentence, DOC Policies), not the offender's inclination to cooperate. 

Taggart, at 219. 

As a matter of fact, an offender's lack of cooperation does not end 

DOC's supervision efforts. If the offender declines to cooperate the CCO 

has numerous tools to compel or influence compliance. These include, as 

the Court of Appeals acknowledged, "Coercive action against the parolee 

as authorized by the legislature," including RCW 9.94A.720. Opinion, pp. 

6-7. These tools also include the measures authorized and prescribed by 

DOC 350.750, which only comes into play to empower apprehension of 

an offender who has absconded. CP 192-199; Appendix 2. 

Furthermore, the decision of the Court of Appeals will encourage 

offenders to refuse to submit to supervision. Offenders will know that they 

can walk away from supervision and the government will make no efforts 

to apprehend them because their refusal to acquiesce ends supervision. 
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The public will suffer from an offender's dangerous propensities, from 

which the government is charged to protect them. 4 

Beyond this, offenders who abscond pose the greatest threat to 

public safety. Offenders who comply with the imposed restrictions will 

need less management than those who do not. The decision of the Court of 

Appeals directs supervision away from the worst of the offenders, and 

leaves the community at risk. 

The danger from this approach is manifest. The facts of this case 

illustrate the peril. Because DOC stopped supervising violent offender 

Calvin Finley he enjoyed the freedom to plan and participate in the 

robbery where he murdered Kurt Husted and wounded Wilbert Pina. 

The decision of the Court of Appeals irreconcilably conflicts 

with Taggart. This Court should grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(l) 

and reverse. 

B. THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS CONFLICTS 

WITH JOYCE V STATE, 155 WN.2D 306, 119 P.3D 825 
(2005). 

Joyce v State, 155 Wn.2d 306, 119 P.3d 825 (2005), involved an 

offender under supervision who caused an automobile collision that killed 

the plaintiffs wife. The offender had failed to report to DOC for 

4 "We conclude that parole officers have a duty to protect others from reasonably 
foreseeable dangers engendered by parolees' dangerous propensities." Taggart, at 224. 
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supervision for seven months in one instance, and for three months prior 

to the criminal act that was at issue in that case. Joyce, 155 Wn.2d at 313-

314, 320. Despite the lack of reporting and lack of contact between the 

offender in Joyce and DOC for three months prior to the criminal act, this 

Court still recognized that a duty existed as a result of the conditions 

imposed in the offender's judgment and sentence. Joyce, 155 Wn.2d at 

315. The offender's decisions to periodically break contact did not switch 

the duty off and on. 

In the case at bench, the Court of Appeals contradicted Joyce when 

it acknowledged that the State had a duty to supervise Finley, but still 

concluded that duty disappeared because Finley declined to show up for 

an appointment. Opinion, pp. 7, 11. Joyce tells us that "[ o ]nee the duty 

exists, the question remains whether the injury was reasonably 

foreseeable." Joyce, 155 Wn.2d at 315. Until the Court of Appeals issued 

its ruling in this case, no court had ever held that a missed appointment 

and issuance of a Secretary's Warrant renders DOC powerless to fulfill its 

statutorily mandated obligations. 

The Court of Appeals and the State continually repeat that DOC 

issued a Secretary's Warrant for Finley's arrest on February 17, 2009, as if 

this act produced some sort of enchanted charm that removed the duty to 

supervise. CP 2- 3. DOC's own policies do not support this contention. 
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DOC issued that warrant pursuant to Policy DOC 350.750, which 

empowers and compels DOC workers to take numerous actions to 

apprehend an absconded offender. CP 192-199, Appendix 2. Even a 

casual perusal of the policy shows that DOC itself did not contemplate that 

absconding and issuance of a warrant ended the duty to supervise. 

Under Joyce, because the State admits the duty to supervise 

existed, and because the Court ruled that the State owed a duty to 

supervise, the jury needed to decide whether the State acted reasonably in 

its efforts to supervise and apprehend Finley and whether the harm to the 

plaintiffs was foreseeable. The decision of the Court of Appeals thus 

irreconcilably conflicts with Joyce as well. This Court should grant review 

pursuant to RAP 13 .4(b )( 1) and reverse. 

C. THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS CONFLICTS 

WITH BORDON V. STATE, 122 WN.APP. 227, 95 P.3D 764 
(2004) 

Bardon v. State, 122 Wn. App. 227, 95 P.3d 764 (2004), involved 

an offender sentenced to four months of confinement and 12 months of 

community supervision for the crime of eluding. Upon release from jail 

the offender failed twice to report to his DOC supervisor. DOC never 

received a copy of the judgment and sentence for the eluding conviction 

and therefore did not supervise the offender for that conviction. The 

offender killed the plaintiffs decedent in an automobile collision while 
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driving drunk. The plaintiff sued DOC for failing to superv1se the 

offender. 

After a verdict for the plaintiff, DOC appealed. It argued to the 

Court of Appeals that it owed no duty to supervise for the eluding 

conviction "because it did not know about the eluding charge, [and] the 

'"take charge" relationship described in Taggart did not exist ... " Bardon. 

at 236. 

The Comi of Appeals rejected this argument. DOC owed a duty to 

supervise for the eluding conviction because the ceo should have known 

about the conviction for numerous reasons, and because RCW 

9.94A.120(13) mandated DOC's supervision. Bardon, at 236-238. 

Under the reasoning of the Court of Appeals in the case at bench, if 

DOC does not know of a conviction for which a sentencing court ordered 

supervision, then there can be no "continuing relationship" to give rise to a 

duty to supervise. The Bordon court rejected this thinking and imposed the 

duty to supervise notwithstanding DOC's ignorance of the judgment and 

sentence. As in the case at bench, the Bcn·don court specifically addressed 

the "continuing" nature of the relationship critical to imposing the duty to 

supervise. (''[A] special relationship between the actor and the third party 

may give rise to a duty if the relationship is 'definite, established and 

continuing'." Bm·don, at 235, citing Hertag, 138 Wash. 2d at 276, 288, 
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979 P.2d 400. The Bardon court found that the relationship existed, even 

though DOC had no knowledge of the eluding conviction and 

consequently did not supervise for that conviction. The absence of a 

"continuing relationship," as the Court of Appeals in this case conceived 

it, did not prevent imposition of a duty in Bardon. 

The Court of Appeals's reasoning in Bardon and its reasoning in 

this case irreconcilably clash. This Court should grant review pursuant to 

RAP 13.4(b)(2) and reverse. 

D. THE COURT'S DECISION IN THIS CASE 
CONFLICTS WITH IN THE MATTER OF THE PERSONAL 

RESTRAINT OF AMEL W. DALLUGE, PETITIONER, 162 
WN.2D 814, 177 P.3D 675 (2008). 

In the Matter of the Personal Restraint of Amel W Dalluge, 

Petitioner, 162 Wn.2d 814, 177 P.3d 675 (2008) required this Court to 

decide whether DOC's power to enforce the conditions of community 

custody became suspended during an offender's confinement. 

Former RCW 9.94A.625(3) provided that a "period of community 

custody ... shall be tolled during any period of time the offender is in 

confinement for any reason." The offender contended that since 

confinement tolled the "period," it tolled the Department's power to 

enforce community custody conditions as well. This Court disagreed. It 

held as follows, at 818-819 (emphasis the Court's in original):

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