RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jul 24, 2015, 3:03 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK



NO. 91799-0

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JANET HUSTED as Personal Representative of the ESTATE OF KURT HUSTED; WILBERT R. PINA, an individual; and JOEL FLORES, guardian ad litem for minor EMMETT PINA,

Appellants,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

STATE OF WASHINGTON'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

GARTH A. AHEARN Assistant Attorney General WSBA #29840 Torts Division P.O. Box 2317 Tacoma, WA 98401-2317 253-593-6136 OID #91105

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

V. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. Appellants' Have Not Met The Standards Required For Granting A Petition For Review Under RAP 13.4(b)

This case does not merit review under RAP 13.4(b). The Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court by applying the principles of *Taggart* and other cases to find that DOC does not have a duty when an offender absconds from supervision and a warrant for his arrest has been immediately issued. Appellants' argument that the decision conflicts with *Taggart* and other appellate opinions interpreting *Taggart* is simply incorrect. Pet. Review at 2.

B. The Court Of Appeals Decision Is Consistent With Taggart

Appellants' contend that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Taggart* because it allegedly held that DOC's duty to supervise Finley "vanished" when he missed his supervision appointment. Pet. Review at 7. They also contend that *Taggart* requires that DOC has an ongoing, unlimited in time and space, take-charge duty to supervise offenders regardless of the circumstances. *See, e.g.,* Pet. Review at 6-11. Both contentions are based on a flawed understanding of the courts' decisions.

Washington recognizes the general rule that there is no duty to control the conduct of a third party so long as there is not a special relationship that gives rise to a duty to control the person's conduct. Taggart, 118 Wn.2d at 218-19. This Court in Taggart held that the relationship between a parole officer and a parolee gives rise to such a duty upon a showing of a "definite, established, and continuing relationship between the defendant and the third party." Id. at 219. In the case below, the Court of Appeals recognized that, as per this Court's decision in Taggart, DOC has a duty to control offenders under DOC's supervision. See Husted, 348 P.3d at 779.

The Court of Appeals also recognized that this exercise of authority depends on the continuing nature of the relationship between

DOC and the offender. *Id.* at 780 (citing *Taggart*, 118 Wn.2d at 219). If the relationship is severed, DOC no longer has the ability to exercise control over the offender. *Id.* Thus, the Court of Appeals correctly held that, when an offender absconds and a warrant has been issued, DOC's duty to control is suspended until the relationship is re-established. *Id.* This is also reflected in RCW 9.94A.171(2) (see Appendix A) the tolling statute, which recognizes there is no supervision when the offender absconds, and that the period of supervision and the duty resumes once the relationship with the offender is re-established.⁵

The Court of Appeals' ruling was rational and straightforward. DOC's duty is not premised merely on its authority to monitor offenders but its ability to do so as well. The community corrections officer's duty is to adequately monitor and report violations of the offender's conditions of supervision. See Bishop v. Miche, 137 Wn.2d 518, 526, 973 P.2d 465 (1999). In RCW 9.94.720, the Legislature codified the actions that community corrections officers can take in the course of supervising offenders, including monitoring the offender, and even incarceration. The underlying premise of both Bishop and RCW 9.94.720 (see Appendix B) is that offenders' conduct can be controlled by the specter of being incarcerated or punished by a court or other sanctioning authority, if the

⁵ Formerly, RCW 9.94A.625. No substantive changes were made to the statute when it was amended and recodified that affect Calvin Finley's supervision.

offender fails to abide by the terms and conditions of their supervision. But this control is only possible through continuous, direct contact with the offender allowing community corrections officers to take such actions. When an offender absconds, the officer can no longer use these tools because the offender cannot be monitored.

Contrary to Appellants' assertions, the Court of Appeals' ruling is consistent with this Court's decision in *Taggart*. DOC could not have an ongoing, continuous relationship with Finley after he absconded, and therefore had no duty to control him.

C. DOC's Internal Polices And Statutes Do Not Create A Duty To Apprehend Fugitive Offenders

Appellants' also rely on DOC's authority to monitor offenders and DOC's internal policies to claim the appellate court's ruling conflicts with *Taggart*. See Pet. Review at 14-15. The reliance is misplaced because DOC's authority to monitor offenders and DOC's internal policies do not create a duty to apprehend a fugitive offender.

At the threshold, agencies' policies do not give rise to a duty in tort. *Melville v. State*, 115 Wn.2d 34, 793 P.2d 952 (1990). The fact that an agency may have a policy regarding the ability to engage in a particular act is insufficient to overcome the strong policy reasons behind creating a duty to perform the particular action. This is particularly true when the

duty advocated by the Appellants here is an unlimited duty, unconstrained by any circumstances, and that is not recognized by any court.

The Taggart duty is derived from the common law as outlined in the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 315 (1965). See Taggart, 118 Wn.2d at 218. The scope of that duty is dictated by the "the court order that put the offender on the supervising officer's caseload and the statutes that describe and circumscribe the officer's power to act." Couch v. State Dep't of Corr., 113 Wn. App. 556, 54 P.3d 197 (2002). But here, neither the court's order placing Finley on supervision, nor the statutes granting DOC authority to monitor Finley, dictate that DOC had a duty to monitor Finley when DOC is unable to do so. Thus, DOC's own internal policy directives are irrelevant to the issue of duty.

In sum, the Court of Appeal's ruling does not conflict with *Taggart* because Appellants' cannot identify any authority imposing a duty on DOC to take action further than issuing a warrant for an offender who has absconded, which it did here.

D. The Court of Appeal's Ruling Is Consistent with Joyce v. Dep't of Corrections

Appellants' also assert that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Joyce v. Dep't of Corr.*, 155 Wn.2d 306, 119 P.3d 825 (2005), claiming that the lower court allegedly ruled an offender has the

ability to switch on and off DOC's authority to monitor an offender. Pet.

Review at 14.

First, as discussed above, Appellants assertions lack merit because the Court of Appeals' decision was not based on a mere "missed appointment." Pet. Review at 14-15. Rather, the Court of Appeals found that DOC had no continuing duty of control over Finley once he absconded and a warrant was issued for his arrest.

Second, the Appellate Court's holding is consistent with Joyce because DOC had minimal to no contact with Finley after he had absconded. But unlike here, in Joyce there was no issue that despite failing to report as directed, Stewart maintained contact with his community corrections officer and no warrant was issued for his arrest. Joyce, 155 Wn.2d at 312-15. Because DOC "maintained a definite, established, and continuing relationship by assigning a community corrections officers to monitor and notify the judge if [the offender] failed to substantially comply with the court's conditions of release," this court found that a duty existed. Id. at 320.

In this case, other than a brief phone call, DOC did not have any contact with Finley once he absconded.. CP at 233. Thus, unlike in *Joyce*, DOC had no ability to maintain a relationship with Finley allowing it to enforce his conditions of release, and no duty could exist.

Finally, this court in *Joyce* recognized that DOC's breach of duty was the failure to issue a warrant. *Joyce*, 155 Wn.2d at 322-23. In *Joyce*, the offender had been arrested shortly before the accident, which had injured the plaintiff. The plaintiff presented competent evidence that the offender would have been in the King county jail on the day of the accident injuring plaintiff had DOC issued a warrant as was required. *Id.* at 322. In effect, this court held that issuing the warrant is the last act of "control" DOC has over an absconding offender and thus to the extent *Joyce* creates a duty to issue a warrant, DOC met that duty here by issuing a warrant the day Finley failed to report.

The Court of Appeals' ruling is consistent with *Joyce* and there is no basis for further review.

E. The Court of Appeals' Ruling Is Consistent With Bordon v. State

Appellants also claim that the Court of Appeal's ruling conflicts with Estate of Bordon v. Dep't of Corrections because the Court of Appeals should have found that DOC knew it had a duty to monitor Finley's behavior. See Pet. Review at 16. Appellants' reliance on the ruling in Bordon is misplaced because the facts and issues in this case are different. The dispositive issue in Bordon was the plaintiff's failure to establish proximate cause that the offender would have been in jail at the

time of the incident. Estate of Bordon v. Dep't of Corr., 122 Wn. App. 227, 95 P.3d 764 (2004), review denied, 154 Wn.2d 1003 (2005). Here, the Court of Appeals never reached the issue of proximate cause because of its determination that DOC had no duty.⁶

The issue in this case is not about whether DOC knew or should have known it had the authority to monitor Finley either. Rather, the issue is whether DOC had the ability to do so when it did not have a direct, ongoing, continuous relationship with him whereby it could control his behavior. DOC did not and so the appellate court's ruling does not conflict with *Bordon*.

In *Bordon*, the offender was being supervised for financial obligations stemming from a number of convictions at the time he killed Ms. Bordon in a drunk driving accident. *Bordon*, 122 Wn. App. 227. Prior to the accident, the offender had failed to report to supervision twice. *Id.* at 231-235. Because DOC was unaware of another eluding conviction, the community corrections officer believed the offender was only being monitored for financial obligations and did not issue a warrant for his arrest for failing to report. *Id.* The court of appeals in that case found

⁶ If this matter is accepted for review and the appellate court's ruling is overturned, which it should not be, the matter should be remanded back to the appellate court to address the issue of proximate cause.

DOC should have known of the conviction and, therefore, had a duty to monitor the offender. *Id.* at 237.

Here, the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with *Bordon* for several reasons.

First, unlike in this case, the offender in *Bordon* was in custody when the community corrections officer failed to report to the court that the offender had violated his supervision. *Bordon*, 122 Wn. App at 233-34. Because the officer had the ability to seek sanctions against the offender while he was in custody, the court of appeals found that a duty arose. *Id.* That is the exact opposite of this case. Finley immediately absconded upon his release from jail so there was no ongoing, continuous, contact whereby DOC could monitor Finley's behavior.

Second, unlike in *Bordon*, DOC issued a warrant for Finley's arrest. If Finley had come in contact with law enforcement and been arrested on his warrant, DOC could have reported the violations to a sanctioning authority and began monitoring his behavior consistent with its duty. Unfortunately, Finley evaded contact with law enforcement and DOC was unable to establish any relationship with him such that it could attempt to control his behavior.

F. The Court's Ruling Does Not Conflict With In Re Personal Restraint of Dalluge

Finally, Appellants' assert that the Court of Appeal's decision conflicts with *In re Personal Restraint of Dalluge* because the court in that case found DOC had the authority to discipline an offender for violating conditions of his supervision even though the term of supervision is tolled while the offender is in confinement. *See In re Personal Restraint of Dalluge*, 162, Wn.2d 814, 177 P.3d 675 (2008). However, just as the Court of Appeals found in its decision below, Appellants' reliance on *Dalluge*, is misplaced. *See Husted*, 348 P.3d at 781.

In *Dalluge*, the court held that, although a term of community custody is tolled while an offender is incarcerated on another matter, DOC is not precluded from sanctioning the offender for violating terms of his or her supervision. *Dalluge*, 162 Wn.2d at 818-19. The offender in that case was serving a one year term of community custody when he was arrested and taken to jail. *Id.* at 816. While at jail he was involved in an altercation. DOC determined the altercation violated the offender's community custody conditions and after a hearing, sanctioned the offender. *Id.* The offender claimed that since his community custody term was tolled while he was in confinement on another matter, DOC did not have the authority to discipline him for the violation. *Id.* The court

ruled otherwise finding DOC could sanction him for violating the terms of his supervision even though his term of community custody was tolled while he was incarcerated. *Id.* at 819

The Court of Appeals was correct in finding that *Dalluge* is not applicable to the situation here. It does not address whether a duty to control an offender's behavior arises when an offender absconds and DOC lacks a continuous ongoing relationship with the offender such that DOC can control the offender's behavior.

Further, *Dalluge* is entirely consistent with the fact the *Taggart* duty is premised on an ongoing, continuing relationship between the offender and DOC. When the offender is in custody or having contact with his or her community custody officer that relationship exists and the officers can seek to control the offender by seeking sanctions or imposing other conditions. Conversely, when the offender absconds, the ongoing continuation relationship is not existent and DOC lacks the ability to impact the offender's behavior, therefore no duty can exist.

VI. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals properly concluded that the duty recognized in *Taggart* did not arise in this case because when an offender absconds and is on warrant status DOC lacks an ongoing continuous relationship with the offender whereby DOC can control the offender's behavior. Thus

the appellate court's decision does not conflict with any decisions of this court or the Court of Appeals and Appellants' petition should be denied.